**SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF FLORIDA**

**Case No. SC10-2459**

**JULIE WINSLOW,**

**Petitioner,**

**vs.**

**SCHOOL BOARD OF ALACHUA COUNTY,**

**Respondent.**

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER WINSLOW**

---

**ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL  
FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA**

---

**TERENCE J. KANN, P.A.**

Terence J. Kann  
FBN 286664  
tkann@bellsouth.net  
2790 N.W. 43rd Street, Suite 100  
Gainesville FL 32606  
Telephone (352) 375-3203  
Facsimile (352) 380-0378

and

**KORN & ZEHMER, P.A.**

Michael J. Korn  
FBN 296295  
mkorn@kornzehmer.com  
800 West Monroe Street  
Jacksonville FL 32202  
Telephone (904) 356-5500  
Facsimile (904) 356-5502  
Attorneys for Petitioner

## **INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT**

The following references are used in this Initial Brief:

Petitioner/Plaintiff, Julie Winslow, is referred to as “Winslow,” “Plaintiff” or “Petitioner,” but usually as “Winslow.” Winslow’s minor daughter, Tiffany Chancey, is referred to as “Miss Chancey” or “Chancey.”

Respondent/Defendant, School Board of Alachua County, is referred to as “SBAC,” “Respondent,” or “Defendant,” but usually as “SBAC.”

References to Petitioner’s Appendix, which accompanies this Initial Brief and includes the key papers from the Record on Appeal already assembled and considered by the First District Court of Appeal as well as the subsequent rulings and motions filed in the First District, will be by the symbol “A\_\_” followed by the tab and page number (for example: A 1, 1).

All emphasis in this Initial Brief is that of the scrivener, except as otherwise indicated.

## **STATEMENT OF CASE & FACTS**

This appeal arises from a dismissal, with prejudice, of Winslow's Second Amended Complaint (A 7), which alleged that Respondent SBAC had breached an operational level duty owed to Plaintiff's minor daughter. The facts as discussed below are taken from Winslow's Second Amended Complaint (A 5).

Winslow's daughter, Tiffany Chancey (Chancey), aged 14, was severely injured when she was struck by a motor vehicle, while she was awaiting the arrival of the school bus at her designated Gainesville school bus stop (A5, 2). The bus stop designed by SBAC consisted of two separate gathering areas for students (referred to as the south and north gathering areas), which were located on opposite sides of SW 20<sup>th</sup> Avenue, a heavily traveled main municipal artery (A 5, 2-3).

Winslow alleged that SBAC designed the bus stop and enacted a rule (along with enforcement procedures) implementing its design, which required students living on the south side of the road to wait until the westbound bus stopped and deployed its stop signs and flashing lights (thereby stopping all road traffic) and the driver gave the "all clear sign" before leaving the south gathering area and crossing the roadway to board the bus from the north gathering area (A5, 3-4). Without the stopped school bus (which operates as a mobile traffic control device), school children could not safely cross the roadway, because there was no crosswalk or

signal, and the children were required to cross SW 20<sup>th</sup> Avenue in mid-block (A 5, 2).

Tragically, and as alleged by Winslow, the bus driver (Ms. Jones) never effectively communicated this workable and safe method of boarding the bus to the students (A 5, 6). Nor did the driver monitor or enforce the SBAC crossing/boarding rule, and the bus driver knew that virtually every day the students living on the south side were crossing the roadway from the south to the north gathering area before the school bus arrived (A 5, 3-6; 18-19). Miss Chancey was unaware of the crossing/boarding rule (A 5, 4). On the day she was injured, Miss Chancey had crossed from the south to the north gathering area and was struck when she stepped into the roadway (apparently to see a student who was not yet at the stop) (A 5, 2-3).

Like virtually all school bus stops, this bus stop was not supervised or monitored by any SBAC employee. Nonetheless, SBAC exercised control over the students by enacting its crossing/boarding rule; that procedure prohibited students from crossing the roadway and boarding until the bus came to a stop (and stopped all other traffic by activating its lights and deploying its stop signs), and the driver gave the “all clear” signal (A 5, 4-6).

SBAC’s design required ongoing monitoring by the school bus driver, who knew which students lived on either side of the road, to ensure student compliance

(A 5, 6). While enforcement was initially the responsibility of the school bus driver, if the driver was unsuccessful in enforcing the rule, it was the responsibility of the school principal, and ultimately the superintendent (A 5, 6; 21-22).

In her Second Amended Complaint, Winslow specifically alleged that SBAC had control over Miss Chancey at the time she was struck by a motorist, because it had the authority to control (or regulate through the boarding/crossing rule) the manner by which she crossed the street and boarded the bus (A 5, 5-6 at ¶ 13). Winslow further alleged that SBAC had the authority to implement its bus stop design by enacting its crossing/boarding rule, and through its bus driver it was able to communicate, monitor, and enforce the rule, on a daily basis (A 5, 4-6 at ¶¶ 12-15). Winslow also specifically pled that Miss Chancey was injured while she was at the bus stop (A 5, 3).

Winslow's pleadings never challenged the selection of the site, or the design of the bus stop (A 5, 1-12). Nor did she allege that the School Board failed to warn her of the danger of crossing a street mid-block. (Id.) Rather, she alleged the School Board was negligent for failing to operate the bus stop as it was designed, and for failing to communicate, monitor and enforce its own school bus boarding rule, which was a breach of its operational duty (A 5, 7-8).

After Winslow filed her initial Complaint (A 1, 1-5), the SBAC moved to dismiss (A 1A). By agreement, Winslow thereafter filed an Amended Complaint (A 2). The SBAC again moved to dismiss (A 3). Following a hearing on SBAC's renewed motion to dismiss, the trial court dismissed Winslow's Amended Complaint, with leave to amend (A 4, 1-2).

As discussed above, Winslow filed a Second Amended Complaint (A 5), and SBAC again moved to dismiss (A 6). After a hearing, the trial court dismissed Winslow's Second Amended Complaint with prejudice, stating "for the reasons stated in the Court's Order dismissing Plaintiff's Amended Complaint and for the reasons stated by the Court at the conclusion of the hearing on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint"... "Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint is dismissed with prejudice" (A 7, 1-2).

The trial court's previous order dismissing Winslow's Amended Complaint had stated that: "1) a school board's duty of care begins when the school board has physical custody of its students; and 2) designation of school bus stops is a planning level decision which is immune from tort liability under the doctrine of sovereign immunity" (A 4, 1-2).

Winslow filed a timely Notice of Appeal (A 8), seeking review of the trial court's dismissal with prejudice . The First District Court of Appeal affirmed in a two sentence per curiam opinion (A 9), stating:

Julie Winslow appeals a final order dismissing with prejudice her second amended complaint seeking damages from the School Board of Alachua County, appellee, for injuries suffered by her daughter, Tiffany Chancey, when she walked into traffic **at a school bus stop** and was struck by a motor vehicle (emphasis added). Because the School Board **did not have control over this student** at the time of the accident, the School Board had no duty to the student. (emphasis added; citations omitted) (A9, 1-2).

Winslow timely filed a motion for rehearing/clarification, certification and rehearing en banc (A 10). Winslow sought clarification about whether the First District's phrase "did not have control over the student" was a finding based on the facts as pled, or was a legal holding solely based on the fact that Chancey was injured at a bus stop before the school bus arrived, at a time when no school board employees or agents were present (A 10, 2-3). Winslow's motion also stated that generally "control" is an issue of fact to be determined by the jury, based on the evidence and inferences from the evidence (A 10, 2). Alternatively, Winslow requested that the First District certify to this Court as a question of great public importance the following: "Does a school board owe a legal duty to students waiting to board the school bus, at the designated bus stop, when the school bus is not physically present?" (A 10, 4).

The First District denied all relief sought in Winslow's motion without comment (A 11).

Winslow then petitioned this Court to exercise its discretionary certiorari jurisdiction, because the First District's decision expressly and directly conflicted with this Court's decisions in *Rupp v. Bryant*, 417 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1983); *Commercial Carrier Corporation v. Indian River County*, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979); and *Harrison v. Escambia County School Board*, 434 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 1983); and with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *School Board of Broward County v. Surette*, 394 So.2d 147 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA), *rev. dismissed*, 399 So.2d 1146 (Fla. 1981). This Court accepted jurisdiction by order entered June 27, 2011.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

SBAC owes a duty to transport its students with maximum regard for their safety. That duty begins the moment a student arrives at a designated bus stop and is therefore subject to the authority and control of SBAC. Petitioner recognized that a school board is not an insurer of its students' safety and is immune from liability for selecting and designing a bus stop. However, once it has selected and designed a bus stop, and has enacted procedures (including monitoring and enforcement procedures) to implement its design, a school board is not immune when it fails to

operate its bus stop as designed, by failing to monitor and enforce compliance with its procedures.

Additionally, the school board has the authority, and a duty, to control student behavior. Even if the students are not on school grounds and no school board representative is present at the bus stop to supervise the students' actions, SBAC had the authority to enact its crossing/boarding rule to control student behavior and implement the design of the bus stop. Therefore, SBAC owed a duty to Miss Chancey, who was injured while she was at a designated school bus stop and under SBAC's custody, and subject to its authority and control.

While SBAC enjoys immunity for selecting the location and design of the Lyons bus stop, it has no immunity for its failure to operate the bus stop as designed. SBAC selected a bus stop location and design which required students living on the south side of the roadway to wait until the school bus arrived and stopped all other traffic before crossing to the north side to board a westbound bus. The crossing/boarding rule and enforcement procedures implemented that design. SBAC is not immune from liability for its failure to communicate, monitor or enforce its own crossing/boarding rule, which it had the continuous capacity to do by and through its school bus driver who was fully aware that the rule was being violated every day, but who took no steps to communicate the existence of the rule or enforce

its compliance. SBAC is not immune from this failure, because under Florida law the implementation of a pre-existing policy, plan or design is an operational function, and is not protected by sovereign immunity.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Winslow is seeking this Court's review of the dismissal of her Second Amended Complaint with prejudice. The standard of review for the dismissal of a complaint for failure to state a cause of action is *de novo*. *Wallace v. Dean*, 3 So.2d 1035, 1045 (Fla. 2009). The reviewing court must accept the allegations of the complaint as true and need not defer to the trial court's legal conclusions regarding the efficacy of the allegations. *Jimenez v. Community Asphalt Corp.*, 968 So.2d 668, 670 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2007). A dismissal should only be granted when it has been conclusively demonstrated that the pleader can prove no set of facts whatsoever in support of a recognized cause of action. *Id.* The *de novo* standard applies to all issues.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE SCHOOL BOARD OF ALACHUA COUNTY (SBAC) OWED A DUTY TO TRANSPORT ITS STUDENTS WITH MAXIMUM REGARD FOR THEIR SAFETY, SAID DUTY BEGINNING THE MOMENT A STUDENT ARRIVES AT A DESIGNATED BUS STOP AND IS SUBJECT TO THE AUTHORITY AND CONTROL OF SBAC.**

A school board owes a duty to transport students with maximum regard for their safety. *Dixon v. Whitfield*, 654 So.2d 1230, 1232 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1995); *School Board of Broward County v. Surette*, *supra*, 394 So.2d at 152-153. In *Dixon*, the First District held that a school board has a statutory duty to “provide” student transportation, citing previous Sections 230.23(8) and 234.01(1)(a) Fla. Stat. (1987) (the current statutes are Sections 1001.42(10) and 1006.21). *Dixon* further held that school boards shall have “maximum regard for safety,” pursuant to Section 234.02, Fla. Stat. (1987) (currently Section 1006.22). *Id* at 1232.

The school board’s duty begins once the student arrives at the bus stop and is subject to the authority and control of the school board. *Harrison v. Escambia County*, 434 So.2d 316, 319 (Fla. 1983); *Duval County School Board v. Dutko*, 483 So.2d 492, 495 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1986); *Surette*, 394 So.2d at 153; *Rupp v. Bryant*, 417 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1983).

A key fact which differentiates the instant case from the cases cited and relied on below by SBAC is that Winslow's daughter, Miss Chancey, was injured while she was **at the Lyons bus stop**<sup>1</sup>. Had Miss Chancey been informed about the SBAC crossing/boarding procedures (which were specifically adopted to implement the design of the Lyons bus stop), and remained at the south gathering area and not crossed SW 20<sup>th</sup> Avenue until the school bus arrived and stopped, she never would have been injured.

Contrary to the contentions of SBAC, the opinions in *Harrison, Dutko, Surette and Francis v. School Board of Palm Beach County*, 29 So.3d 441 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2010) all contain language either holding or acknowledging that while a school board does not owe a duty to students who are en route to a bus stop, its **duty to students arises once they arrive at the bus stop**, because they are then subject to the authority and control of the school board.

For instance, *Harrison* found no duty existed, because "the accident did not happen at the school bus stop." 434 So.2d at 319. The opinion further stated, "When

---

<sup>1</sup> This allegation was clearly made in Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint (A 5, 2 at ¶ 6). Additionally, SBAC representatives testified that the Lyons bus stop was designed with both south and north gathering areas, as shown by deposition transcript excerpts which were exhibits to the Second Amended Complaint (A 5, 28).

a student is injured before reaching a designated bus stop ... that student is outside the Board's duty of care." *Id.* (emphasis added).

The First District stated in *Dutko* (where the court held a duty was owed):

Appellant's 12 year old son, Oscar, was struck and killed by an automobile **at a school bus stop** in Jacksonville. The driver of the passing automobile lost control of his vehicle, left the roadway, and angled toward the bus stop where the decedent and another child were waiting for the approaching bus. 483 So.2d at 494 (emphasis added).

*Surette* found that a duty was owed to the student. The Fourth District stated that "Diane Surette, age 13, was struck by an automobile" "while she was waiting for a school bus." The opinion specifically stated that "At the time of the accident, Diane was standing approximately three feet in the roadway in front of a designated school bus stop at a vacant lot." 394 So.2d at 149, 152.

While *Francis* found no duty existed, those facts are distinguishable from the case at bar:

The tragic accident in this case, however, did not occur while Kodijah was ... waiting at her bus stop. **It occurred while she was walking to her bus stop**....The school board does not have custody or control over students while they are *en route* to their school bus stops; the control rests solely with the student's parents or guardians. Thus, the school board does not have any duty to its students during this period of time. 29 So.3d at 444 (emphasis added).

Contrary to SBAC's contentions, Florida courts have consistently drawn a bright and clear line which recognizes that school boards owe a duty to their students

once they arrive at the school bus stop, and are subject to its authority and control. While the school board owes no duty while a student is en route to or walking towards the school bus stop, those are not the facts as set forth in the instant Second Amended Complaint.

This Court's analysis in *Harrison* begins with the phrase, "**(t)o start, we note that the accident did not happen at the school bus stop** (emphasis added)."<sup>2</sup> 434 So.2d at 319. Later in the same paragraph, this Court stated, "(w)hen a student is injured **before reaching a designated bus stop**, or after leaving one, that student is outside the board's duty of care because the board's duty of care stems from the fact of the school board's physical custody of its students (emphasis added)." *Id.*

In context, this subsequent statement in *Harrison* must reasonably be read to mean that a school board's custody, and hence its duty, begins the moment a student arrives at the bus stop, when he or she is subject to the board's authority and control. Thus, *Harrison* used the term physical "custody" to mean "the legal right or duty to care for someone ... especially a child ..." (See Cambridge Dictionary Online) or the "care or ... authority over ... someone" (See FindLaw Online Dictionary).

---

<sup>2</sup> In *Harrison*, this Court ultimately held that the school board owed no duty to a student who was hit and killed while traveling on his way to a bus stop.

So as to provide full context to the *Harrison* holding, which supports Petitioner's analysis, the complete quote is as follows:

To start, we note that the accident did not happen at the school bus stop. As a general rule, if a public school entity provides transportation for its pupils, it owes a duty of care with regard to that transportation. Annot., 34 A.L.R.3d 1210 (1970). School boards, however, are not insurers of students' safety, and a school board's control over its students regarding transportation extends from when a school bus picks up a student at a bus stop to the school door. When a student is injured before reaching a designated bus stop, or after leaving one, that student is outside the board's duty of care because the board's duty stems from the fact of the school board's physical custody of its students. 434 So.2d at 319.

Not surprisingly, SBAC focused on the phrases in *Harrison* that "a school board's control over its students extends from when a school bus picks up a student ..." and "the board's duty stems from the fact of the school board's physical custody of its students" (emphasis added). However, SBAC purposefully ignores the other phrases, such as "we note that the accident did not happen at the bus stop" and "(w)hen a student is injured before reaching a designated bus stop ... that student is outside the board's duty of care." *Id.*

Although the language in the above paragraph might be seen as less than clear, *Harrison* and the other cases quoted above hold that a school board owes the student a duty from the moment he or she arrives at a designated bus stop, which is when that student comes under the authority and control (i.e., custody) of the school board.

This conclusion is further confirmed by the fact that in *Harrison* this Court distinguished but did not overrule *Surette*. In distinguishing *Surette*, this Court stressed that the student’s injury “occurred at a designated bus stop” (although before the bus arrived, when no school board representative was physically present). Furthermore, *because* the student in *Harrison* was injured before arriving at the bus stop, *Harrison* stressed the fact that the student was injured “while walking toward a school bus stop.” *Id.*<sup>3</sup>. Finally, *Harrison* stated, “(o)ur research has turned up few cases concerned with liability for negligent location of a bus stop **or for injuries occurring away from bus stops** (emphasis added).” *Id.*, at 320, n.5.

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