**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA**

JULIE WINSLOW,

Petitioner,

Case No.: SC10-2459
L.T. Case Nos.: 1D10-1046
01-2009-CA-3590
(Alachua County)

v.

SCHOOL BOARD OF ALACHUA COUNTY,

Respondent.

_____ /

**ANSWER BRIEF
OF RESPONDENT SCHOOL BOARD OF ALACHUA COUNTY**

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

DELL GRAHAM, P.A.
David M. Delaney
Florida Bar No. 121060
ddelaney@dellgraham.com
Jennifer E. Jones
Florida Bar No. 67947
jjones@dellgraham.com
203 N. E. First Street
Post Office Box 850
Gainesville, Florida 32602
Telephone: (352) 372-4381
Facsimile: (352) 376-7415
Attorneys for Respondent

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

The *Francis* court built upon the foundation previously laid in cases like *Orlando v. Broward County, Florida*, where the plaintiffs attempted to create a duty to withstand sovereign immunity and argued that a school board's decision regarding the location of the school bus stop created a hidden trap or dangerous condition for which there was no proper warning. 920 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005). In *Orlando*, a 13 year-old eighth grader was walking home from middle school when he was struck and killed by a motor vehicle. *Id.* at 56. The accident occurred on a busy street with a posted speed limit of 45 mph. *Id.* at 57. The plaintiff alleged that school board was aware of the hazardous walking routes around the middle school and this student was the fourth child in a seven-year period to die in transit to or from the school. *Id.* The plaintiff sought to establish that the school board owed an operational-level duty, and avoid the application of sovereign immunity as discussed *infra* Section III, by arguing that the school board created "a hidden trap or dangerous condition for which there was no proper warning." *Id.* at 58. The court found, however, that a "dangerous condition that is readily apparent to the public does not fit within this exception to the doctrine of sovereign immunity. The danger of jaywalking on a busy street during rush hour is readily apparent to pedestrians, so that a governmental entity has no duty to warn of such an open and obvious hazard." *Id.* at 58 (internal citations omitted). Moreover, according to this Court, a "governmental entity has no duty to warn

pedestrians of the routine danger of crossing the street midblock.” *Payne v. Broward County*, 461 So. 2d 63, 66 (Fla. 1984).

The Fourth DCA in *Orlando* further found that the school board had knowledge of the traffic conditions on the busy street “but it did not create the dangerous condition” and, moreover, the traffic on the street was “readily apparent.” *Orlando*, 920 So. 2d at 59. This was not a situation presenting an operational duty to warn of known dangerous condition that constituted a “trap for the unwary,” since the “the dangerous condition here was open and obvious, no ‘greater than that existing anywhere it is possible to cross a road midblock.’” *Id.* at 59-60 (quoting *Payne*, 461 So. 2d at 65) (additional citation omitted).

In reaching its decision, the *Orlando* court relied on this Court’s decision in *Payne v. Broward County*. 461 So. 2d 63 (Fla. 1984). In *Payne*, a high school student was walking home from school when she was struck by traffic as she attempted to cross the street at midblock. *Id.* at 64. This Court recognized that the county both created and knew of the dangerous conditions surrounding area where the student was killed, but concluded those conditions did not create a hidden trap and that “whatever danger there was in crossing the street midblock was open and obvious.” *Id.* at 66. This Court reasoned that implementing safety rules “can neither create a danger nor transform a patent danger into a latent hazard.” *Id.* “[T]he danger created was no greater than that existing anywhere it is possible to

cross a road in midblock. A governmental entity has no duty to warn pedestrians of the routine danger of crossing the street in midblock.” *Id.*

Thus, the law in Florida is clear. A school board has no duty to warn a student of the open and obvious dangers of crossing a street midblock, and there is no exception to the doctrine of sovereign immunity for such a danger. Yet, this is exactly what Chancey was doing at the time of the accident. Petitioner’s Second Amended Complaint is based upon the argument that the School Board had a duty to warn Chancey about the dangers of crossing mid-block, and that the Board breached its duty by failing to so instruct her. However, these allegations fail to state a claim for which relief can be granted because a school board has no duty to warn students or parents of the routine dangers of crossing the street midblock.

The facts of cases like *Orlando, Payne*, and the instant case are clearly distinguishable from the situation in *Duval County Sch. Bd. v. Dutko*, 483 So. 2d 492 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), where the First District Court of Appeal recognized a narrow exception to the general rule of no liability when a plaintiff seeks to recover “for negligence for the breach of an operational level duty to warn of a known dangerous condition created by the public entity not readily apparent, constituting a trap for the unwary.” *Dutko*, 483 So. 2d at 495. None of these three conditions exists in the instant case.

In *Dutko*, the court upheld the inapplicability of sovereign immunity when the school board created a “trap for the unwary.” *Id.* Waiting children were exposed to dangers that were not readily apparent. *Id.* The court observed that there was evidence “of prior ‘near-misses’ occurring at this location when vehicles left the roadway and drove upon the grassy shoulder, requiring waiting children to scurry out of the way of wayward vehicles.” *Id.* There was “evidence of tire scuff marks and gouges on and off the pavement at this location” in addition to “the dangerous conditions created by the heavy traffic and absence of any traffic signals, signs, markers or barriers designating this area as a school bus stop.” *Id.* In sum, it constituted a virtual trap due to its inconspicuous danger.

In the instant case, while Petitioner (like the *Francis* plaintiff) claims there were complaints from parents and/or concerned citizens regarding safety (R.1 at 81), Petitioner does not allege (nor are there any ultimate facts to support any allegations) that there were “near misses” involving erratic drivers leaving the roadway, erratic drivers almost striking waiting children, or tire scuff marks and gouges evidencing such “near misses.” In *Dutko*, the First DCA specifically contrasted the facts in *Dutko* to the allegations in *Anthony v. Jacksonville Transportation Authority*, 383 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), where the court held that a complaint was properly dismissed because it failed to allege that a bus stop waiting area which was located near “busy vehicular traffic” was “more than

ordinarily vulnerable” to runaway automobiles. *Dutko*, 483 So. 2d at 495-96. Likewise, in the instant case, Petitioner's allegations mention nothing more than ordinary vehicular traffic and the dangers inherent at almost any bus stop. *See Harrison*, 419 So. 2d at 644 (observing that “[i]t is obvious that some potential for injury to a child would exist at any location where motor vehicle traffic exists”).

As the court observed in *Francis*, the duty to warn is limited and arises only where the dangerous condition is “so serious and so inconspicuous . . . that it virtually constitutes a trap.” *Francis*, 29 So. 3d at 444 (quoting *Dep’t of Transp. v. Konney*, 587 So. 2d 1292, 1299 (Fla. 1991) (Kogan, J., concurring) and citing *Kaweblum v. Thornhill Estates Homeowners Ass’n*, 801 So. 2d 1015, 1017 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)). The allegations of the instant case do not establish a “trap for the unwary” as in *Dutko*. Instead the allegations are far more closely aligned with the “open and obvious” dangers of crossing a road midblock and the ordinary traffic conditions described in cases like *Francis*, *Orlando*, and *Payne*. The facts of those cases, as here, did not give rise to a duty to warn students.

B. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that the school board owed a duty, its alleged failure to warn did not proximately cause the student’s injuries here.

Even if this Court were to determine that a school board, not parents, must provide supervision at every bus stop across the State, or that a school board owes a duty to warn students of the open and obvious danger of crossing a street mid-

block, Petitioner's claim still fails. The alleged breach of this non-existent duty to warn was not the proximate cause of Chancey's injuries as described in Petitioner's Second Amended Complaint.

Florida law is well-established that in order to state a cause of action in negligence, the plaintiff must demonstrate that “the defendant owed the plaintiff a duty, the defendant breached that duty, the breach was a proximate cause of the plaintiff’s injuries, and the plaintiff suffered damages as a result of those injuries.” *Vincent v. C.R. Bard, Inc.*, 944 So. 2d 1083, 1085 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). While Petitioner has failed to establish duty, as described above, she also failed to establish proximate cause even assuming, arguendo, that such a duty or breach existed. Chancey's injuries did not occur when she crossed to reach the north side of the street (where the school bus stopped every morning).

After Chancey arrived safely at her designated bus stop on the south side of the street, she crossed the street to the twin bus stop – a different bus stop – on the north side. If Chancey had been injured during this crossing, Petitioner may have sufficiently alleged proximate cause.³ But she was not. Once again, Chancey arrived safely to this second bus stop. This is where the analysis must end, cutting off proximate causation.

³ Her claim would still fail for the reasons stated above, including failure to allege the other necessary elements to state a claim, such as a cognizable duty, and also due to the application of sovereign immunity as discussed *infra* Section III.

All of Petitioner's arguments are based upon the premise that an appropriate direction or warning from the School Board would have prevented Chancey from crossing the street early, before the bus arrived, to stand at the north side bus stop. However, Chancey's early crossing to the north side was not the cause of her injuries. Fourteen-year-old Chancey was injured when, a second time, she left the safety of a bus stop (on the north side where the bus stopped every morning) and ran into the open and obvious danger posed by the street traffic. She was not running to the bus stop where the bus would pick up the students – she was running away from it.

At its core, this case is about a student who chose to leave the safety of a school bus stop before the bus arrived. It is not about a school board failing to provide sufficient instructions regarding the operation of twin bus stops across the street and failing to warn of the open and obvious danger of running into traffic. Assuming that the injuries occurred because Chancey tried to make it to the correct side of the street for the bus to pick her up, as Petitioner implies, the argument must fail. In fact, Chancey did arrive to the “correct” side of the street for pick up.

A school board has no duty to warn of an open and obvious danger, such as the one posed by traffic. Similarly, a school board has no duty to warn students not to leave the safety of a bus stop and not to run into the street. Petitioner asks, in reality, for this Court to determine that every school board in the state of Florida

has a duty to monitor the activities of school children, including those about to enter high school such as Petitioner's student, at every bus stop throughout the state. The only way to accomplish the "exercise of authority and control" Petitioner requests is to place school personnel at each of these thousands of bus stops every morning to monitor students who arrive and to prevent them from leaving the safety of the bus stop. The legislature has determined that this duty belongs to parents who best know the supervisory needs of their children, and this Court has determined that the school board's duty begins only after students are within the school board's physical control.

III. SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY BARS A CLAIM FOUNDED UPON A PLANNING-LEVEL DECISION SUCH AS THE PLACEMENT OF TWIN BUS STOPS ON BOTH SIDES OF THE STREET.

Under well-established Florida law, a school board is immune from liability under the doctrine of sovereign immunity for planning-level decisions, such as the placement of school bus stops on both sides of the street. Not surprisingly, Petitioner attempts to reframe her arguments under the guise of "operational" failures to circumvent the School Board's immunity. In reality, however, Petitioner's basic argument is that the design of the twin bus stops, on either side of the street, was unsafe. Such a determination is a planning-level decision and the School Board is immune from liability.

A. A school board is immune from liability for planning-level decisions.

Article X, section 13 of the Florida Constitution provides “absolute sovereign immunity for the state and its agencies absent waiver by legislative enactment or constitutional amendment.” *Cir. Ct. of the Twelfth Jud. Cir. v. Dep’t of Natural Resources*, 339 So. 2d 1113, 1114 (Fla. 1976). However, section 768.28, Florida Statutes, “constitutes a limited waiver of the state’s sovereign immunity.” *Id.* at 1116.

“Even though the statute creates a limited waiver of sovereign immunity, certain discretionary, planning-level governmental functions remain immune from tort liability.” *Orlando v. Broward County, Florida*, 920 So. 2d 54, 57 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005). The test for determining whether a governmental function is a discretionary one, and therefore immune from tort liability, was set forth by this Court in *Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County*, 371 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 1979). The *Commercial Carrier* decision was applied to a school bus stop liability case in *Harrison*.

In *Harrison*, an eleven-year old child was struck by an automobile while en route to catch a school bus at an allegedly negligently located school bus stop. *Harrison v. Escambia County School Board*, 419 So. 2d 640 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). The plaintiff alleged, among other things, that the school board had a duty to

designate and operate safe school bus routes and bus stops, that unusual traffic hazards existed at the bus stop location at issue, and that the school board knew or should have known that the bus stop created a dangerous condition for children and failed to arrange for a safer location for the bus stop. *Id.* at 642.

However, the trial court dismissed the plaintiff's claim and ruled that the claim was barred by sovereign immunity. *Id.* at 641. The First DCA affirmed, holding that a school board's decision regarding the location of a school bus stop is a planning-level decision and, therefore, the school board is immune from liability. *Id.* at 641, 643-49. The court explained that "to require the school board to decide on school bus stop locations under the threat of tort liability in the event a judge or jury at some later date might determine that the chosen location constituted a safety hazard to an individual child injured enroute to it, would present some difficulties." *Id.* at 644. "It is obvious that some potential for injury to a child would exist at any location where motor vehicle traffic exists, yet it would be totally impracticable and indeed impossible to locate a bus stop at any place where this would not be true." *Id.* (foreshadowing the instant situation by stating that "a location deemed 'most reasonably safe' for some could pose safety problems different both in kind and degree for other pupils, given the fact that they very likely approach the bus stop from different directions, and by different routes."). Finally, the court concluded that "the school board's function in selecting school

bus stop sites is not one that should be subject to scrutiny by judge or jury as to the wisdom of their performance.” *Id.* at 645 (citations omitted).

This Court accepted review after the First DCA certified the question and affirmed the decision below based on the “thoughtful and well-reasoned majority opinion.” *Harrison v. Escambia County School Board*, 434 So. 2d 316, 319 (Fla. 1983). As a result, Florida law is well-settled that selection of bus stop locations is a planning-level decision for which a school board is sovereignly immune.

B. There exists no applicable waiver of sovereign immunity.

On Petitioner's third attempt to state a cause of action in her Second Amended Complaint, Petitioner included a string citation to five Florida Statutes in support of the argument that the School Board had waived sovereign immunity, *i.e.* sections 1001.42(10), 1006.21, 1006.22, 1006.09 and 1006.10, Florida Statutes. (R.1 at 76.) However, Petitioner failed to allege how any of these statutes operated to waive the sovereign immunity of the School Board in this matter. (R.1 at 76-87.) Petitioner fails to cite any Florida case that has found that these statutes waive sovereign immunity. Finally, some of these statutes directly refute Petitioner's argument.

As set forth in the School Board's motion to dismiss (R.1 at 125-35), section 1001.42(10), Florida Statutes, provides the authority for the district school

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